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Survey Report

JAMES ISLAND AND JOHNS ISLAND
HISTORICAL AND ARCHITECTURAL INVENTORY

Preservation Consultants, Inc.

Name of Survey

James Island and Johns Island Historical Survey
Charleston County, South Carolina

Boundaries of Survey Area

Survey boundaries of James Island (including Sol Legare Island) were the Stono River to the
west; Elliott(s) Cut and Wappoo Creek to the north; Ashley River and Charleston Harbor to the
northeast; Parrot(s) Point Creek, Clark Sound, and Secessionville Creek to the east and
southeast; and Folly Creek and King(s) Flats Creek to the south.

Survey boundaries of Johns Island were the Stono River to the east, north, and northwest;
Church Creek and Bohicket Creek to the west; Haulover Creek to the southwest; and Kiawah
River to the south.

Number of Properties Surveyed

330 sites were surveyed.
201 sites were surveyed on James Island.
129 sites were surveyed on Johns Island.

There are an additional fourteen sites on James Island and one site on Johns Island which
have previously been surveyed and listed on the National Register of Historic Places.

Number of Square Miles Surveyed

James Island comprises 35.7 square miles, and Johns Island 49.8 square miles. These figures
include both high ground and marshlands.

Surveyors

Sarah Fick

David Schneider

Robert P. Stockton, Project Historian
Preservation Consultants, Inc.

Post Office Box 1112

Charleston, South Carolina 29402

Beginning and Ending Dates of Survey

June 1989 through August 1989.
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7. Objectives of Survey

Funded by the South Carolina Department of Archives and History, the City of Charleston, and
Charleston County, the survey is part of the statewide inventory of historic places in South
Carolina. The statewide survey is the foundation for the State Historic Preservation Program
administered by the South Carolina Department of Archives and History. The survey
includes the identification of cultural resources, the gathering of detailed data on these
resources through historical research and field work, and the organization and evaluation of
this data. The product of the statewide survey is the South Carolina Inventory of Historic
Places, a compilation of information on historic resources throughout the state.

The survey is essential to the administration of the programs of the State Historic Preservation
Office. It identifies those properties that are eligible for the National Register of Historic
Places, the Nation's official list of cultural resources worthy of preservation. Properties
included in the National Register are eligible for two other federal programs administered by
the State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO): federal matching grants-in-aid for
preservation planning activities and certain tax benefits which are available to owners who
rehabilitate income-producing properties. In addition to these programs, certain resources
listed on the National Register are eligible for the South Carolina State Historic Grants Fund
administered by this office. The survey also provides data for the federal and state compliance
process which comes under review by the SHPO. This review process helps protect listed or
eligible cultural resources from adverse effects that may result from federally- funded or
federally- licensed projects.

At the local level, the survey can provide the information needed for a community to plan for
the wise use of its resources. By identifying significant cultural resources or collections of
resources within an area, the survey helps the community establish policies, procedures, and
strategies for maintaining them. For example, the survey can assist with preservation
activities such as the determination and administration of locally-zoned historic districts. In
addition, local planners can use survey information to monitor and channel new
development.

A survey establishes a record of those cultural resources that comprise and convey our
heritage. In addition, undertaking a cultural resource survey promotes an increased
knowledge and appreciation of these resources by officials and citizens regarding their state
and their communities. This can lead to an increased commitment to the wise use of those
resources which collectively define our sense of place.

8. Method of Survey

The survey methodology was in accordance with the "State Historic Preservation Survey
Manual," revised edition March 2, 1989, published by the South Carolina Department of
Archives and History:

a) Research on the Historical Background of the Survey Area,

The survey began with research into the general historical development of James and Johns
Islands. The findings of this research were used to identify important historical resources
and to indicate specific types of historic resources and themes especially important to the
development of the islands. The principal sources consulted during this phase of the survey
are included in the bibliography (Section 10).
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Additional research material was provided through preliminary meetings with citizens of
each island held in June 1989, and in "James Island Land Use Policy: Recommendations”
prepared by the James Island Study Committee, Summer 1987, and "Johns Island Plan,"
prepared by the Johns Island Steering Committee, 1988.

b) Reconnaissance Survey,

Intended to identify sites requiring intensive survey, the reconnaissance is carried out by
driving all roads in the survey area and locating sites on field maps. Black-and-white
photography was accomplished during this phase of the project, which was conducted
simultaneously with the intensive survey, between June 26 and August 25, 1989.

¢) Field Work for Intensi TV

During the principal fieldwork phase, site locations were entered on United States Geological
Survey Topographic maps ("Survey Maps") and individual survey and photograph cards
prepared. Through the assistance of the City of Charleston and Charleston County, tax map
numbers were provided for as many sites as possible, and included on the cards. The survey
was limited to above-ground resources: properties intensively surveyed include all pre-1941
properties that have not been substantially altered, and all 1941 or post-1941 sites which, because
of architectural distinction or historical associations, appear worthy of survey. Sites
previously listed on the National Register of Historic Places were mapped and assigned site
numbers. For those National Register properties which have been substantially altered since
being listed, or for which it was necessary to provide additional historical or descriptive
information, survey cards were completed.

n _Indivi 1 Pr

Historical information was gathered for individual sites within the survey area. An attempt
was made to gather information from property owners during the field survey. Additional
historical research was conducted through interviews with local citizens knowledgeable about
the islands' cultural history and built environment. Information gathered in these interviews
supplemented the initial documentary research and provided clues for further historical
research, as well as supplying site-specific data.

e) Historic Rural Landscape Features,

The intent of the survey was to inventory above-ground features: buildings, sites, structures
and objects. Other landscape features exist, manmade and natural, such as irrigation
systems, locations of ferry landings and bridges, railroad right-of-way, tree-lined roadways,
individual trees or avenues, and waterfront and marsh vistas, which are significant to the
cultural history of the islands. Those which retain their historic context and ability to convey
their historical associations (for example, Angel Oak; Butcher Oak; Maybank Highway Oak
Allee; Exchange Landing Road; Stono River Bridge) were included on survey site cards,
maps and index. Other resources (i. e. Seaboard Coastline Railroad right-of-way; Guerrin's
Ferry Landing; Bohicket Road; Bayview Farms oak allee) which are more difficult to assess
with standard survey methodology have been located on maps included as part of this report.
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f) Products of Survey,

Site inventory numbers were assigned to all sites surveyed and to sites previously listed on the
National Register of Historic Places. These numbers are shown in the Site Index (Appendix A
to this report) and on the Survey Maps. Other materials produced include a site card and
photographs for each of the properties intensively surveyed. For those sites listed on the
National Register, site numbers were added to copies of the nomination listings, which are
provided to the City and County of Charleston. Slides were taken representative of the broad
range of sites surveyed and of types of resources unique or particular to James Island and
Johns Island. In addition to the "Survey Report,” duplicate sets of cards, maps, index,
photographs and slides were provided to the South Carolina Department of Archives and
History and the City and County of Charleston.

9. General Historical Development of James and Johns Islands

Note on lllustrations: The illustrations accompanying the narrative history come from a variety of archival sources. They were
chosen for their relevance to the text and for their representation of James and Johns Islands at different periods in time. The
reproduction quality varies considerably, although an attempt was made to get the best quality copies possible, without
incurring great expense. Unfortunately it is the nature of many historical documents, such as old maps and plats, that they
often do not function as high quality graphics.

Prehistory

James Island and Johns Island form part of a chain of flat, low-lying bodies of land, known as
the Sea Islands, which extend along the Atlantic coast from South Carolina to Florida. The Sea
Islands are separated from the mainland and one another by networks of rivers, tidal creeks
and inlets, marshes and coastal lagoons. James and Johns islands are separated from the
mainland by Wappoo Creek and the Stono River, and from adjacent islands by Church Creek,
Bohicket Creek, the Kiawah River, the Folly River and other watercourses. James Island is
bordered on the north and east by Charleston Harbor and is separated from Johns Island by the
Stono River. The Sea Islands are noted for their natural beauty, and their romantic vistas of
marshlands, waterways, ocean, cultivated fields, pine and mixed hardwood forests, and live
oaks draped with Spanish moss.! It is appropriate, perhaps, that a tree may be the oldest living
thing on James and Johns Islands. The Angel Oak (Site No. 2970072), named for the Angel
family which owned the land it occupies, is located off Angel Oak Road, near the intersection
of Maybank Highway (S.C. 700) and Bohicket Road (S.C. 20), on Johns Island. Oak trees do
not have rings, and consequently cannot be dated. However, the Angel Oak's age has been
estimated as somewhere between 700 and 1,400 years. If the estimate is valid, the tree predates
recorded history on the islands.2

In the prehistoric era, James Island and Johns Island were inhabited by wandering tribes of
Native Americans who made their living by hunting. Their homes probably were temporary,
rude shelters of animal hides or makeshift lean-tos. When the game in any area was depleted,
they moved on to new hunting grounds. Indian legends and archaeological and linguistic
studies indicate that the early inhabitants migrated from the Mississippi and Ohio river
valleys. Probable shell rings, evidence of early Native American occupancy, have been
discovered in several places on the islands. These sites will require future archaeological
testing and evaluation. Shell rings are made up of oyster shells mixed with fish bones, pieces
of shell, and broken bits of pottery, the more durable remains of the refuse discarded by the
residents of the area. Such shell rings are believed to indicate the beginnings of a sedentary
way of life among the Indians.3
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By the time the native American inhabitants of James and Johns islands came into contact
with Europeans in the first part of the seventeenth century (or possibly earlier), they were
settled agrarian tribes. They included the Stono, of the Muscogean linguistic family, who
inhabited James and Johns Islands, along the shores of the river named for them, and the
Bohicket, of the Souian linguistic family, who lived in the area extending from Wadmalaw
Island to Kiawah Island, including the southern end of Johns Island. The Stono (Ostano) were
mentioned by Spanish explorers in 1609, and the English explorer Robert Sanford described
Indian habitations and fields (probably of the Bohicket) along Bohicket Creek, in 1666. Both
the creek, which flows into the North Edisto River between Johns and Wadmalaw islands, and
Bohicket Ridge, on Johns Island, are named for the Bohicket tribe. Following the Indian
custon‘li, the English settlers first referred to the area, including James and Johns Islands, as
Stono.

The Stono Indians and the European settlers, who founded Charles Town in 1670, appear to
have had a brief period of good relations. But trouble arose because the Stono, apparently not
understanding the concept of domesticated animals, treated the settlers' hogs, turkeys and
geese as fair game, and the planters retaliated by killing some of the Indians. The Stono,
joined by the Kussoe, who lived between the Stono and Ashley rivers, rebelled against the
English in 1674. They were defeated and many captives were shipped to the West Indies to be
sold as slaves. In 1684, the "cassiques" or chiefs of the Stono, along with other tribes in the area
between the Ashley and Edisto rivers, ceded their land to the Lords Proprietors. The Indians
were allowed to continue residing in the area, however. By 1695-96, the Stono Indians had
become so weak that the General Assembly (the colonial legislature), complained that the
English had to defend and supply them. By 1695, the surviving Stonos were settled on Stono
(now Seabrook) Island.5

Some authorities on South Carolina Indians refer to the Stono and Bohicket tribes as part of the
Cusabo group. However, there is debate among scholars as to who the Cusabo were, and whether
they constituted a confederation or other official grouping of Indians. Gene Waddell contends
that the term, "Cusabo," was not used by the Indians, but by the English settlers as a general
name for the coastal tribes. Waddell documents the first use of the term in 1707, in the "Act for
Regulating the Indian Trade," which includes the Stonos among several tribes "commonly
called Cusabes." No colonial records refer to the Cusabos as a confederation or "family" of
tribes, according to Waddell.

The 1707 Act for Regulating the Indian Trade contains the last documented reference to the
Stono tribe. Another act of the South Carolina Assembly in 1707 established lookout points at
various locations along the coast, and stipulated that the "Bohicott Indians” were to man a
lookout on "Jones Island.” The act is the last documented mention of the Bohicket tribe. Any
subsequent historical documentation of the Stono and Bohicket Indians is unknown. They
may have remained in the area for some time after 1707, however. Another "Act for the
Regulation of the Indian Trade," adopted by the General Assembly in December, 1716,
provided for Indians residing in the settlements to trade their deer skins, etc., at various
plantations in the Lowcountry, including that of Capt. Jonathan Drake on James Island and
that of Col. John Fenwick on the Stono River, Johns Island.”

No extensive descriptions of the Stono and the Bohicket Indians and their way of life were
recorded. However, the Stono and Bohicket probably were similar to other Lowcountry tribes
who settled in villages of small round huts which were covered with cypress or cedar bark.
Usually a village had a larger building for meetings and rituals (called a town house or state
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house by the English). The villages were surrounded by defensive palisades, beyond which
were fields of maize, beans, pumpkins, squashes and melons. The English also noted
orchards of peaches (perhaps obtained originally from the Spanish). Their culture was based
primarily on agriculture, and secondarily on the hunting of deer, turkey and other game, and
fishing. They utilized the peace-pipe as a diplomatic tool, contributing to the James Island
legend that the "Three Trees" near Lighthouse Point was a place where the Indians met to
settle differences. They made pottery, generally practiced monogamy and elected their
leaders. Their chiefs, called Cassiques by the English, were sometimes female. They had
shamans or conjurers, and paid homage to spirits. The concept of the "Great Spirit" or god,
who was lord of all creation, apparently was brought by the European settlers.8

The First Europeans

The first Europeans to enter the area were the Spanish, who made contact with the Stono
(Ostano) in 1609. Little is known about Spanish contacts with James and Johns Islands. The
first permanent settlers came under the English flag and primarily were English and West
African. The first permanent settlement in South Carolina was Charles Town, which
initially was established at present-day Charles Towne Landing, on the Ashley River north of
James Island, in 1670. In December 1671, the Council of the Province ordered a town to be
established on James Island, "in a Creeke Southward from Stonoe Creek." Stono Creek was
the name first applied to present-day Wappoo Creek. The site of the town was somewhere on
James Island Creek, which also has been known as New Town Creek (as well as Ellis Creek).
The new town was named for James, Duke of York, brother and heir of Charles II. James
Town was designated a "colony" of 12,000 acres. Settlers were granted half-acre town lots,
and drew lots for ten-acre "planting lots," adjacent to the town. Some received grants for
larger tracts for plantations on New Town Creek. No plat of James Town has survived in the
public records. William J. Rivers, a nineteenth century historian, stated that James Town
was settled by New Yorkers who, disgruntled by high taxes and hard winters in the Northern
colony, came in ships with their cows and mares. A list of forty New Yorkers who received
permission to immigrate to Carolina included seventeen black servants. Rivers said the New
Yorkers were Dutch, but the recorded grantees of land in James Town had English names.
The town of James Town survived for only a short time. The last mention of the town, found in
contemporaneous records, was in 1686.9

The estate of Col. William Sayle, the first Governor of the Province, who had died in March,
1671, posthumously was allotted 1,500 acres of land in the "colony" of James Town in March of
1672.10 Grantees of town lots in James Town during the period from June, 1672, to March, 1674,
included Thomas Hart, Thomas Williams, John Terry, Edmund Fogertee, John Attkins, John
Wells, John Bassent and Governor John Yeamans. Planting lots were designated for Elinor
Burnett, Susanna Kinder, William Owen, William Scrivener, Edward Rouse and John
Lawrison. One of those who received plantation acreage was Peter Herne. Four hundred
acres near James Town were ordered to be laid out for him in 1672. Herne subsequently had 96
acres on New Town Creek laid out for him in 1678, ten acres near James Town in 1681, and
another 44 acres "upon a Poynt of Land called James Towne," in 1686. Other plantation tracts
at James Town were ordered to be laid out for John Foster, James Jones, Thomas Fluellin, and
Thomas Williams. Michael Smith, John Maverick and Richard Chapman were identified as
merchants of James Town, in 1672.11

By the mid 1670s, James and Johns Islands had scattered settlements located primarily along
navigable waterways. A map of 1695, and another dated 1711 (Figure 1), depict a number of
plantations along the banks of the Stono River, on both islands. James Island is designated on

Johns Island and James Island Historical and Architectural Inventory - 1989
Page 6



& \..&u...»ju

[IRETRS

$ LT

Yy Qe

.
¢

Y YEIaR
wfo .

W
AR S
[P RN TSRS SN

‘-&“\,i-%:‘l-_.f" i

Figure 1
A Compleat Description of the Province of South Carolina,” 1711, from William P,

Detail, Edward Crisp's Map,

1958) plate 44

(Princeton

rl

utheast in

h

Cumming,

Johns Island and James lIsland Historical and Architectural Inventory - 1989

Page 7



the earlier map as Boone's Island.12 The island probably was named for John Boone, who
received a grant for land on the island on August 17, 1682.13 Boone was a member of the
Council of the Province, but was expelled from that body by the Lords Proprietors in 1691, for
allegedly holding correspondence with the pirates who threatened the infant colony, and
assistiifg pirate crews. The name, James Island, was used in public documents as early as
1693.

By the end of the seventeenth century, other settlers had acquired land on James Island.
Bernard Schenckingh, a wealthy immigrant from Barbados, was granted land on James
Island. Others landowners included Paul Grimball, William Rivers, Benjamin Lamboll,
Cassique John Monck, John Croskeys, John Ellis, Jr., Jonathan Drake, and John Chaplain.
Thomas Drayton had one hundred acres "on the North Side of the Head of New Towne
Creeke," in 1697. Drake was granted more land on New Town Creek in 1715. Other tracts on
New Town Creek were granted to James Dugne, Sr. and Robert Dutch. Miriam Gantlett
received, in 1700, a tract on James Island, "on ye southside of ye great Savanna." William
Russell received, in 1709, a tract on the north side of "a great Sound" (Clark Sound). A tract on
Wind Mill Point (subsequently the location of Fort Johnson), granted to William Russell in
1710, was acquired later by Thomas Lamboll.18

Johns Island, referred to in some early records as St. John's Island, evidently was settled a
little later than James Island. Thomas Stanyarne received a grant for 100 acres on Johns
Island on November 14, 1698, and his family became influential residents of the island. The
Stanyarne family cemetery (also known as Brick House Plantation Cemetery), with several
late eighteenth century graves, is situated near Hamilton Road (Site No. 2970023). Thomas
Weatherly had 400 acres on Johns Island laid out for him in 1707. Elizabeth Godfrey received a
grant dated April 14, 1710, for 400 acres which became known as Bohicket Ridge Plantation.
Other 1132r1y grantees included Jonathan Stocks, William Holmes, Thomas Roberts and John
Monk.

Grantees for lands on the islands also received grants for town lots in Charles Town.17 Many
planters had town houses as well as plantation houses, in a "town and country" residential
pattern which prevailed in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. The dual residency was
motivated by a fear of "country fever" as well as a desire for the social and cultural amenities
of the town.18

The early settlers on James and Johns islands undoubtedly used the waterways as
transportation routes. But the size of the islands also made roads necessary. A legislative act
for making highways, ratified July 19, 1707, designated commissioners for a road on James
Island, and another group of commissioners for a road on Johns Island. These early roads
have not been identified. Riverland Drive on James Island, from Three Trees to Stono
Plantation formerly was known as "the King's Highway." The section of Secessionville Road
from Camp Road to Fort Johnson Road was known as "Drake's Highway," for Jonathan
Drake, an early James Island settler.19

The Franco-Spanish Invasion

James Island was invaded by foreign troops as a result of the War of the Spanish Succession,
in which England disputed the inheritance of the Spanish throne by Philip of Anjou, grandson
of Louis XIV of France. In 1706, a French squadron loaded with Spanish soldiers and Indians
sailed from St. Augustine, with the intention of taking Charles Town. The fleet arrived at the
entrance to Charles Town Harbor on August 24, 1706, and immediately sent boats to sound the
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bar. Meanwhile, some Spanish soldiers landed on James Island and burned a plantation.
The invasion fleet crossed the bar on August 27, and two days later about forty men from the
French ships landed on James Island and ravaged the countryside. A galley, commanded by
Captain Jonathan Drake of James Island, set out from Charles Town with sixty men and
twenty Indian allies. The enemy retreated to their ships, under fire. Thomas Boone's house on
Ashley River was among those burned. The invasion fleet left on August 31, apparently
deterred by the fortifications surrounding Charles Town, and pursued by a hastily formed
local fleet under Lt. Col. William Rhett.20

As a result of the invasion, a fort was constructed at Windmill Point to guard the entrance to
Charles Town Harbor, in 1708-09. It was called Johnson's Fort, or Fort Johnson, after Sir
Nathaniel Johnson, the Governor of the Province of Carolina from 1703 to 1709. In 1719, a
captain, a lieutenant, and twelve men were stationed at Johnson's Fort. A hurricane in 1729
left the fort in a ruinous condition. A second fort constructed of tabby was erected in 1759. The
brick powder magazine is believed to have been built in 1765, but some authorities contend it is
a relic of the War of 1812. Fort Johnson had at least 15 guns in 1766, when they were used to fire
a salute for the arriving new royal governor, Lord Charles Greville Montagu. A plat (Figure 2)
depicts the fort in 1800.21

h ian

The presence of the fort probably made the settlers on the islands feel more secure from attack
from the sea. However, there remained the problem of defending the plantations on the islands
from attack from the land. The Indians of the province generally were pacific, but the
usurpation of Indian lands, poor treatment of the Indians by traders, and the enslavement of
Indians inevitably resulted in rebellions. The last such uprising which affected James and
Johns Islands was the Yemassee War of 1715-17. The Yemassee Indians, centered at
Pocataligo, near Beaufort, reacted to mistreatment by English traders, and the taking of their
lands by English settlers. The Yemassee and other tribes with similar grievances united in
war against the South Carolina colonists in 1715. The Indians attacked Port Royal and St.
Bartholomew's Parish, to the south of the Edisto, and a party of Apalachee, allies of the
Yemassee, in July 1715 crossed the Edisto and devastated St. Paul's Parish as far as the Stono
River. They were prevented from crossing the Stono and were driven back, burning Pon Pon
Bridge over the Edisto in their retreat. Forewarned of the advancing Indians, many of the
settlers abandoned their plantations and fled to safety behind the walls of Charles Town.
Others joined with the militia in defense of the islands. Fort LaRoach, named for John
LaRoach, owner of the site, was built on the high ground just north of where Maybank Highway
now crosses from Johns Island to Wadmalaw, as a defense against the Indians. The warring
Indians were defeated in 1717, with the help of the Cherokees, although skirmishes along South
Carolina's southern border continued for some years. The Yemassees left South Carolina for
Florida, where they were sheltered by the Spanish, and later migrated westward, where they
are believed to have merged with the Creek Nation.22

Economic Activities

James and Johns Islands had been spared the devastation experienced by the areas to the south
during the Yemassee War, and the removal of the Yemassee and their allies made the area
secure from further threat of Indians. Following the Yemassee War, the island settlers
returned to their various pursuits, including economic activities. During the early colonial
period, the raising of livestock, for beef and pork which was salted and shipped in barrels to the
West Indies, was an important activity. When Bernard Schenckingh, a wealthy Barbadian

Johns Island and James Island Historical and Architectural inventory - 1989
Page 9



,d ; .
1% j .}fﬁi-s“w
Wiy & RAEE I
Bys 4 gy B
R NN RN SRR
Ry hagd %000 fidind
TR NS RN RE I A PR SR ER
M‘“—‘i-ﬁw“%--'s::§-~=.-‘:»z§‘\ %
13 yae £ ‘%Q\?u_\; e IR N
Ql"&ﬂ'h.-q's‘h*nt&' : whq-&--"\l\%‘v st \:‘.?
TSR EERE RIS EE A Fy
«ehoi=wWd Iz & a w [ B

P
D

REMARKS

- .
74 yards from the Fore S 32°W is aKnol cailed Bunxera Tiil ar whick
twork was erascted in tne Revslucicm
a oo . i .-
J40 y:‘r?.- ad'] W is 2 Xnoll om which i3 ahouse sczupied 2y Taprai-
Raiceisen. :
Ja0 y:ul-ia 330°TW 1a angtherXnall, cmurrss ‘sa =euss =naL MK Sove e
tima past cocuvied Dy Cal. Senf, 2he Sngincar or=ra o= o
Zoth these housssbeicnd o the Stare STEET IS Srase
J48 ya—das B7IW. stood the Wese Dasers , avacsed = tna
mow imtirely Tuinad. : ’
" - = .
~'!.-3 (2 y-“'cl} N.74°Z 20 Tore Mowlere, om S0 1van's vanma
2838 yards N.Jo*F to Fom Dimal sy Tebe
3 ot Lo Zimsunay, on Gnuza's T2,
794 yards M T W 2o Tore Machar s ="

ST st aw

oS har e

s::b ¥ - ¥
s fa a >
T
S °
Y
“‘ ~S 'Q"
Q)
S
S &7
hy
LS - ...
(D .
D QQ ”
1,
-
Scale oF Yarde
N o = - = .,
e ] Pr aw
) ) 53:-?03 PRsot on Jamtes Seland
1.{1 Chavleston: Harbour
4 Octuoar 1300
Figure 2

Detail, "Plan of Fort Johnson on James Isiand in Charleston Harbour, 4 October 1800," from
copy in Special Collections, College of Charleston Library

Johns Island and James Island Historical and Architectural Inventory - 1989
Page 10



who had four estates, died in 1692, the appraisers of his James Island plantation inventoried
"134 head of Cattle [and] one negro man." According to historian Peter Wood, the term
“cowboy” was used during the colonial period to designate men who were stationed at cowpens
to herd the cattle. Black cowboys apparently were given considerable responsibility to develop
such herds of cattle for absentee landowners. The raising of livestock was extremely
important to the colonial economy before the development of successful cash crops.23

Cash Staple Agriculture

The major cash crop of the planters on James and Johns islands, during the colonial period,
probably was indigo, which was valued as the source of a beautiful blue dye. It could not be
grown in England, and little was grown in the British West Indies. The South Carolina
planters, therefore, found themselves as the British Empire's major producers of a commodity
which was necessary to the developing textile industry in England. Their profits were
expanded by a bounty of six pence per pound, legislated by the British Parliament in 1748.
Another major cash crop of colonial South Carolina was rice, which also was favored by
Britain's government. The British mercantile laws required that most colonial produce be
shipped to England. South Carolina rice, however, benefitted from an exception to that law,
allowing it to be shipped to the European ports south of Cape Finisterre (Portugal, Spain and
Southern Italy), where there was a prime market for the grain. Rice possibly was grown on
James and Johns Islands in the colonial period, although no evidence remains of rice fields.
It has been speculated that rice was not grown on the islands because of the difficulty of
providing fresh water, necessary for lowland rice cultivation. The agricultural history of
James and Johns Islands in the colonial period merits additional site-specific research.24

Plantations

A prominent planter of James Island during the colonial period was Thomas Lamboll, whose
plantation had been acquired by his father in 1696. A French map of Charles Town harbor
during the Revolution (Figure 3) depicts Lamboll's house as what appears to be an imposing
two story structure.25

Lamboll, who was active in the provincial Assembly, was one of the first to sign petitions to the
Crown, requesting relief from the rule of the Lords Proprietors. The petitioners claimed that
the Proprietors had failed to provide adequate defense for South Carolina against the
Yemassees and pirates. The petitions and the actions of a South Carolina convention
ultimately led to the end of Proprietary rule and the establishment of South Carolina as a Royal
colony in 1721.26

Several plantation houses on James and Johns Islands survive from the colonial period. Those
on James Island include the Heyward House (also known as the Cuthbert House or Lawton
Bluff), a simple wood frame farm house (Site No. 2490065). Captain Thomas Heyward directed
in his will, probated in 1737, that the house be constructed on a fifty-acre tract, for his widow
and children. The house and tract remained in the Heyward-Cuthbert family until 1848, when
the property became part of the Lawton Bluff plantation. The tract was subdivided in the
twentieth century and the Heyward House address is now 683 Fort Sumter Drive. The house is
said to have been used during the Civil War as a hospital for black victims of smallpox.27

The Stiles-Hinson House, the original part of which was built in 1742, is located at 940 Paul
Revere Drive on James Island (Site No. 0890104). Benjamin Stiles, the builder, and his son,
Benjamin Stiles, Jr., an officer in the Revolution, are buried in the family cemetery at Stiles
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Point. The house was enlarged by William Godber Hinson, a Stiles descendant, in 1891. The
mansard-roofed structure makes the Stiles-Hinson House one of the grandest Victorian
houses on the islands.28

The only intact example of high style Georgian architecture surviving on the islands is
Fenwick Hall (Site No. 2570016), located on River Road just northeast of its intersection with
Maybank Highway on Johns Island. The plantation on the Stono River was acquired by John
Fenwick by 1721. The two story brick house was constructed about 1730, during the early part of
the period which architectural historian Samuel Gaillard Stoney called the "Augustan Age of
the Low Country." The house has exceptionally fine Georgian woodwork, reflecting the wealth
of John Fenwick. Edward Fenwick, Jr., grandson of the builder, commanded a company of
Loyalist dragoons in the Revolution, and was subject to the Confiscation Act of 1782. Although
a portion of his estate was restored by a special act of the General Assembly in 1785, Fenwick
had to sell Fenwick Hall to his cousin John Gibbes (an undoubted Patriot), in 1787. An
octagonal wing in the Adamesque style was added by Gibbes. According to legend, a secret
tunnel led from Fenwick Hall to the Stono, for emergency exits in time of trouble. The legend
apparently is based on the existence of a large brick drain leading from the basement of the
house to the river.29

Fenwick Hall also was the location of the Johns Island Stud, a horse farm which produced
champion racers. The stud, which was the most famous stable in the colony, was established by
Edward Fenwick, Sr., about 1750, and revived by his son after the Revolution. Edward
Fenwick, Jr., due to his losses incurred as a result of the Confiscation Act, had to sell off his
prized horses in 1788. The dispersed Fenwick stable enabled many Lowcountry planters to
begin their own "high-bred" studs. The Fenwick horses and their descendants were raced in
Charleston, at the Newmarket Race Course before the Revolution and at the Washington Race
Course after the Revolution. Races also were held regularly on James Island, but the location
of the course is not known.30

Bl loni

During the Colonial period (and into the twentieth century), the majority of the population of
James and Johns Islands was black. The majority of South Carolina's black colonists were
slaves, brought involuntarily from other British colonies in the West Indies and North
America, and directly from West Africa. The African motherlands of South Carolina blacks
predominantly were the Windward Coast (Ghana and Sierra Leone), the Senegal-Gambia
region, and the Congo-Angola region.31

Population figures specific to James and Johns islands are not available. Gov. James Moore
reported in 1720 that there were 210 taxpayers (among an estimated white population of 1,050)
and 2,493 slaves in St. Andrew's Parish (of which James Island was then a part) and 201
taxpayers (among an estimated white population of 1,005) and 1,634 slaves in St. Paul's Parish
(of which Johns Island was then a part). Slaves made up seventy percent of the estimated total
population of 3,543 persons in St. Andrew's and sixty-two percent of the estimated total of 2,639
in St. Paul's.32 The population ratio specific to James and Johns Islands probably was
similar,

The black colonists of the islands brought with them much of their African heritage, including
African linguistic elements. Gullah is a language or dialect which represents a merger of
West African linguistic sources with English. Due to the relative isolation of the Sea Islands,
the black inhabitants retained Africanisms in their speech for centuries, and their culture also
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was transferred. Many words or phrases derived from or borrowed wholesale from African
linguistic sources were incorporated into the Southern patois. For example, the word "tote" is
derived apparently from a Congo word, tota (to pick up and carry).33

The West Africans brought with them a tradition of oral recitation of folk tales, and a spirited
musical heritage, which have survived on the Sea Islands.34 The oral tradition included
stories of supernatural entities such as hags, haunts and the dreaded plat-eye, which plaited the
eyelashes of its victims and deprived them of their wits. Blue paint, applied to door and
window surrounds, was believed to repel such malicious spirits.35 Other West African
cultural influences included the dirt yard which was swept frequently to prevent the growth of
grass. The custom originated in the communal dirt yard, around which houses were grouped
in West African villages. It served as a communal social area and facilitated insect control
and fire prevention.3¢ Birth and naming practices, handicrafts and women's dress styles are
some elear'r;ents of African culture noted by scholars which have been retained in the Sea
Islands.

The black settlers also brought economic skills of value to their white masters, including
experience in cattle management, which slaves from the Gambia River area of West Africa
contributed, and rice cultivation techniques, which were brought from Gambia and the
Windward Coast (present-day Ghana and Sierra Leone). Many South Carolina blacks were
immigrated forceably from those areas.38 Black settlers also carried from their West African
homeland practical knowledge and skills such as basketry, pottery-making, woodworking,
metal-working, leatherworking, weaving, herbal medicine, boating, fishing and hunting.39

The majority of slaves were agricultural workers. Others were house servants and a few
worked in skilled occupations such as carpenter, bricklayer and blacksmith. An important
occupation was that of boatman, because water was the principal means of transportation. This
occupation afforded a maximum of independence to Lowcountry slaves.40

The Stono Slave Rebellion

The plantation economy of James and Johns islands was based on slave labor. Periodic
instances of rebellion caused great fear among slave owners. One of the most serious threats
to the prevailing order occurred in 1739. The Stono Rebellion, which began on Johns Island,
was an attempt by a group of slaves to escape to Spanish Florida, where the authorities had
promised freedom to any runaways from the English colonies. The rebellion began in the
early hours of September 9, when about twenty slaves gathered on Johns Island, near the Stono
River (in the Chisolm Road vicinity, according to one account). The conspirators were led by a
slave named Jemmy. They proceeded to Stono Bridge (the site of present-day Limehouse
Bridge). There they broke into Hutchinson's Store, pillaged the store and warehouse of arms
and food, killed the two storekeepers and left their heads on the front steps. After crossing the
Stono, the band proceeded to the main highway (present-day U.S. 17) and turned southward,
killing whites and pillaging plantations along their route. They gathered recruits as they
went, and compelled other slaves to accompany the band, to prevent them from alerting the
countryside. By coincidence, Lt. Gov. William Bull, riding northward with four companions,
encountered the marchers (then probably numbering around fifty) on the road. Bull and his
friends instantly assessed the situation, turned their horses and spread the alarm. The
planters rallied quickly, attacked and defeated the band, and executed all captives except those
slaves who could proved they were forced to join the march. Following the incident, the
General Assembly ordered special patrols along the Stono.41
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In addition to planting activities, there was industry on colonial James Island in the form of a
shipyard, which operated from c. 1742 to c. 1772.Vessels of many types were constructed at the
James Island shipyard, and owned subsequently by local and English investors. They
included the Betsy and Nancy, a schooner of sixteen tons built in 1772, owned by local planters
Thomas and John Heyward. The Chance, a schooner of thirty tons built in 1752, was owned by
John McQueen, a merchant of Charles Town, and John Berwick, a merchant of London. The
largest vessel of record built at the James Island shipyard was the Charming Nancy, a ship of
130 tons which was built in 1752.The location of the James Island shipyard is not known.42

ngli ish

The Fenwicks and many other planter families belonged to the Church of England. In 1706, the
General Assembly adopted legislation establishing the Anglican Church as the state religion
and dividing the Province into parishes. James Island was made part of St. Andrew's Parish,
and Johns Island was made part of St. Paul's Parish. Another Act of Assembly in 1734
separated Johns, Wadmalaw and Edisto islands, and adjacent islands to seaward, from St.
Paul's and designated them as St. John's Parish, Colleton.43 In addition to being church
administration districts, the parishes also served as administrative seats of colonial
government, as voting and elective districts, and functioned similarly to modern counties.44

The first Anglican church on Johns Island was St. John's Church, built in 1735. It was
replaced by a new building with a handsome portico, on the same site, in 1817. The church and
a summer chapel, built at Legareville in 1856, were destroyed by a fire which swept over Johns
Island in the spring of 1864. A third church was built on the same site in 1873-75. The present
church, the fourth, was built on the site in 1955-56.45

The first Anglican church on James Island was a chapel, built "at an early date," according to
Bishop Albert Sidney Thomas, who did not identify its name. The chapel was destroyed by a
hurricane in 1730 but rebuilt immediately. It was unofficially a chapel of ease for St.
Andrew's, and was officially established as such in 1756. The chapel was destroyed during the
Revolution and a third chapel was built after the war. The chapel became dormant about 1800.
A revival of interest resulted in its reorganization in 1831 as the parish church of St. James,
James Island. Services were held in members' summer homes at Johnsonville, near Fort
Johnson, as well as in the church. A new and larger church in the Gothic Revival style (the
fourth structure) was erected in 1853. The church was closed in 1863, due to the war, and was
burned in 1864. It was replaced by a Gothic structure built in 1898-99. The present church at 1872
Camp Road was designed by Simons and Lapham, Charleston architects, and built in 1959-60.
The church contains several nineteenth century memorial plaques and there are old graves in
the cemetery adjacent to the church (Site No. 2490001).46

Pr rian

The islands also were settled in the colonial period by Dissenters, a group of whom, under the
leadership of the Rev. Archibald Stobo, established the Johns Island and Wadmalaw
Presbyterian Church in 1710. The congregation still worships in the Johns Island
Presbyterian Church (Site No. 2970025), on Bohicket Road (County Highway 20) a half mile
west of the intersection of Bohicket Road and Edenvale Road (S.C. 633). The building is a
typical Dissenter meeting house, a simple gable-roofed rectangular structure of wood with few
embellishments. According to tradition the oldest portion (the front) dates from c. 1719, was
remodeled to its present appearance in 1792, and lengthened by 20 feet in 1823. However,
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chancery court proceedings of 1840 and 1842 refer to demolishing the old church and building a
new one in 1822, Several notable ministers have preached at the church, including The Rev.
George Whitefield in 1740, and The Rev. Moses Waddell, in the early 19th century. By 1846,
the congregation also had a summer chapel at Legareville and a winter chapel in the middle of
Johns Island. They were destroyed by fire in 1864.47

The Rev. Archibald Stobo also organized the James Island Presbyterian Church in 1706. The
site was donated by Jonathan Drake, a hatmaker. A church building was erected sometime
before 1724. Tradition says the first building was destroyed during the Revolution. The second
building was destroyed by the same accidental fire which destroyed the St. James Episcopal
Church structure. The site is still referred to as "The Burned Church.”" It was replaced in
1867-68 by a plain wooden structure. That building, the third on the site, was demolished in
1909 and the present Gothic Revival structure was built (Site No. 2490054). The church was
enlarged to its present configuration in 1954. The cemetery to the west of the church contains
eighteenth and nineteenth century grave markers, and a granite monument commemorating
the Battle of Secessionville, June 16, 1862. An adjacent tract contains a cemetery originally
used by black members of the church (there were 234 black members, all slaves, by 1853). After
the Civil War, the black Presbyterians formed their own churches, but black residents have
continued to use the cemetery. A recent stone marks the grave of Samuel Smalls, who
reputedly was the inspiration for the character, Porgy, in DuBose Heyward and Ira

Gershwin's_Porgy and Bess.48
The Hurricanes of 2and 1

During the colonial period and afterwards, James and Johns islands shared the Lowcountry
experience of devastating hurricanes. One such disaster was the hurricane of September 15,
1752. Dr. John Moultrie, a Charles Town resident, related that, due to the storm, "a great part of
James Island was under water; many houses were beat down, and some people were drowned."
A shipload of immigrants from the German Palatine was driven from her anchorage in
Charles Town harbor, "into the marsh near to James Island where, by continual rolling the
passengers were tumbled from side to side. About twenty of them, by bruises and other
injuries, lost their lives," according to a contemporaneous account. In order to reclaim the ship
from the marsh, it was necessary to dig a channel 100 yards long, 35 feet wide and six feet
deep.49 In another hurricane in 1804, according to historian Dr. David Ramsay, Fort Johnson
was "so injured as not to admit the mounting of a single cannon."50

Wappoo Cut

The General Assembly, during the colonial period, provided for the opening of Wappoo Cut.
This involved the straightening of Wappoo Creek, which connected the Stono River and the
Ashley River, in order to facilitate boat traffic between Charles Town and the islands. The
west end of the waterway is known as Elliott's [or Elliott] Cut, for Thomas Elliott, who owned
land on the mainland side of the cut.51

lution

The planters of James and Johns Island benefitted economically from the British mercantile
laws, and had cultural ties to Britain as well. New colonial policies affecting trade adopted by
the British government beginning in 1763, however, gradually changed the political affections
of most of the Lowcountry planters. The French and Indian War, which ended in 1763, had
been very expensive, and in order to pay that debt, and to pay for the further defense of the
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American colonies, the British government determined that the Americans would help to
defray those costs. Several revenue acts, passed by Parliament beginning in 1763, were
injurious to the colonial economy. The revenue acts also excited the indignation of the
colonials, who contended that such taxes, adopted without their consent ("taxation without
representation”), violated their rights as Englishmen.52

There were protest demonstrations in the colonial cities, including Charles Town, against
such tax measures as the Stamp Act, passed by the British Parliament in 1765. A cargo of
stamped paper, brought on a sloop of war, was stored on James Island at Fort Johnson under
British guard. Irate colonists swore to destroy the stamps, but contented themselves with
vandalizing the homes of the stamp officers in Charles Town. Partly to punish the colonists
for such activities, and partly to reduce the government deficit, Parliament continued to enact
measures offensive to the colonials. One such act was the reduction of the bounty on South
Carolina indigo to four pence per pound in 1770. Strained relations between the colonials and
the British eventually led to war.53

In 1775, Colonel William Moultrie was ordered by the Council of Safety to attack and seize the
British post at Fort Johnson. The British garrison had abandoned the fort, and it was occupied
without opposition. The South Carolina troops raised, for the first time, the South Carolina flag.
Fort Johnson was defended by South Carolina troops under Col. Christopher Gadsden in June,
1776, when the British launched their unsuccessful attack on Fort Moultrie, on the other side of
the harbor entrance.54 In 1775, the Johns Island Company was organized as a unit of the
Colleton County Regiment of Foot. The Johns Island Company was commanded by Captain
Thomas Ladson.55

The war came to James and Johns islands in earnest in May, 1779, when a British army under
Gen. Augustine Prevost marched from Savannah to besiege Charles Town. Prevost gave up
the siege on May 13, and retreated to Johns Island, where he built earthworks at Stono Ferry,
and remained for a month. Prevost then proceeded south to Savannah, leaving a small
covering force on Johns Island, commanded by Lt. Col. John Maitland. Maitland withstood
an attack by Gen. Benjamin Lincoln in late June, then retired to Beaufort.56

In their progress across Johns Island, the British are said to have burned the house which
Abraham Bosomworth had constructed c¢. 1771. The ruins of the plantation buildings are
located at the Charleston Executive Airport, on the east side of River Road, about four and a
quarter miles south of Maybank Highway on the Stono River. The ruins consist of the stucco-
covered tabby foundations of the house (Site No. 2970081.0), and the brick smokehouse (Site No.
2970081.1) and kitchen building (Site No. 2970081.2). The British also burned the house of
Robert Gibbes, built ¢. 1730, the tabby foundations of which remain on Burden Creek Road, on
the west bank of the Stono about two miles south of Maybank Highway (Site No. 2970045).
British troops (and later American troops) occupied Fenwick Hall, but fortunately did not
destroy the mansion.57

Another British invasion began on February 11, 1780, when Sir Henry Clinton landed troops
on Seabrook Island. Clinton's plan was to march across Johns Island and James Island to lay
siege to Charles Town. His line of supply was to be from the mouth of the Edisto, to the upper
Stono River. On February 15, Clinton sent troops, including Hessian mercenaries, to Stono
Ferry on Johns Island, where they had a minor skirmish with an American cavalry unit
across the river. On February 16, Clinton's light infantry crossed the Stono at the Ferry and
occupied Prevost's works. Clinton set up a temporary supply depot at the ferry. Clinton also set
up an outpost at Gibbes' plantation on Johns Island, to command the Stono near Wappoo Cut.

Johns Island and James Island Historical and Architectural Inventory - 1989
Page 17



Having secured the upper Stono, Clinton sent the main body of his army to Johns Island on
February 17. Clinton established a temporary headquarters at Fenwick Hall, while Lord
Cornwallis occupied Gibbes' plantation.58

On February 22, Clinton ordered his army across the Stono to James Island. Some troops were
boated up the Stono to a point near Wappoo Cut. Others moved across the Stono to Hamilton's
plantation. From the two landing points, Clinton's forces pressed across James Island. They
took Fort Johnson without resistance, the fort having been destroyed by the Americans. The
British built redoubts at Fort Johnson and a little to the south of the fort. An artillery park was
established near the junction of Wappoo Cut and the Stono, and batteries were built to protect the
stores there and to control traffic on Wappoo Cut and the Stono. The so-called Watermelon
Battery was constructed at Stiles Point, and another battery was located on Plum Island. In
late February, the line of supply was shifted to a new route up the lower Stono, eliminating the
need for the supply depot at Stono Ferry. Clinton established his headquarters at Peronneau's
house near Wappoo Cut. A bridge was built across the Cut for the movement of troops and guns
to the mainland. The British, on March 6-10, proceeded north across the Cut and up the west
bank of the Ashley River. Once the main army was on the mainland, the outposts on Johns
Island were abandoned, as they were no longer needed. Clinton crossed the Ashley and began
to besiege the city. On April 8, the British fleet under Admiral Arbuthnot entered Charles
Town Harbor and anchored under the protection of Fort Johnson. Charleston surrendered
May 12, 1780 (Figure 4).59

The British were finally defeated and evacuated Charles Town in 1782, The planters of James
and Johns islands suffered from an economic depression which afflicted the Lowcountry
during the first few years after the Revolution. The British had carried off many slaves as
spoils gf(') war, the bounty on indigo was gone, and the fields had begun to grow up in trees
again.

Islan n

Prosperity was reestablished in the 1790s, due largely to the development of Sea Island cotton as
a major cash crop. First grown in South Carolina as a cash crop in 1791, Sea Island cotton,
which produced a fiber which was twice as long as that of upland cotton, and commanded a
price up to six times as high, provided new fortunes for the island planters within a decade.
Rising prices for Sea Island cotton in the 1840s spurred an increase in production on Johns and
James Islands as well as the other Sea Islands. For example, Sea Island cotton production on
Johns Island increased by 210 per cent compared with a statewide increase of 87 per cent for a